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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

HELSINN HEALTHCARE S.A., HELSINN 
ADVANCED SYNTHESIS S.A., HELSINN 
BIREX PHARMACEUTICALS LTD., 
HELSINN THERAPEUTICS (U.S.), INC., and 
EISAI INC., 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC. 
and TEVA PHARMACEUTICAL 
INDUSTRIES, LTD., 

Defendants. 

Civil Action No. 14-4274 (SRC)(CLW) 
(Consolidated)  

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR 
PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

(Filed Electronically) 

[REDACTED PUBLIC FILING] 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Plaintiffs Helsinn Healthcare S.A. (“Helsinn S.A.”), Helsinn Advanced Synthesis 

S.A. (“Helsinn Advanced”), Helsinn Birex Pharmaceuticals Ltd. (“Helsinn Birex”), Helsinn 

Therapeutics (U.S.), Inc. (“Helsinn U.S.”), and Eisai Inc. (“Eisai”) (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) for 

Case 2:14-cv-04274-SRC-CLW   Document 143   Filed 12/13/18   Page 1 of 25 PageID: 9735



-2- 

their First Amended Complaint against Defendants Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. (“Teva 

USA”), and Teva Pharmaceutical Industries, Ltd. (“Teva Ltd.”) (collectively, “Teva” or 

“Defendants”), hereby allege as follows: 

THE PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Helsinn S.A. is a Swiss corporation having its principal place of 

business at Via Pian Scairolo, 9, CH-6912 Lugano-Pazzallo, Switzerland. 

2. Plaintiff Helsinn Advanced is a Swiss corporation having its principal 

place of business at Via Industria, 24, CH-6710, Biasca, Switzerland. 

3. Plaintiff Helsinn Birex is an Irish corporation having its principal place of 

business at Damastown, Mulhuddart, Dublin 15. 

4. Plaintiff Helsinn U.S. is a company organized and existing under the laws 

of the State of Delaware, having a principal place of business at 170 Wood Avenue South, 5th 

Floor, Iselin, New Jersey, 08830.   

5. Plaintiff Eisai is a company organized and existing under the laws of the 

State of Delaware, having a principal place of business at 100 Tice Blvd., Woodcliff Lake, New 

Jersey, 07677. 

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Teva USA is a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, having a place of business at 

1090 Horsham Road, P.O. Box 1090, North Wales, PA 19454.  Teva USA is a wholly owned 

subsidiary and agent of Defendant Teva Ltd.  Upon information and belief, Teva USA has 

facilities in New Jersey, is registered to do business in New Jersey, and does business in this 

Judicial District.  Teva USA has previously consented to personal jurisdiction in this Court, 

including in the related action, Helsinn Healthcare S.A., et al. v. Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories, Ltd., 

et al., No. 11-3962 (MLC)(DEA) (Consolidated). 
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7. Upon information and belief, Defendant Teva Ltd. is an Israeli corporation 

having a place of business at 5 Basel Street, Petah Tikva 49131, Israel.  Upon information and 

belief, Teva Ltd., itself and through its wholly owned subsidiary and agent Defendant Teva USA, 

manufactures generic drugs for sale and use throughout the United States, including in this 

Judicial District.  Teva Ltd. has previously consented to personal jurisdiction in this Court, 

including in the related action, Helsinn Healthcare S.A., et al. v. Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories, Ltd., 

et al., No. 11-3962 (MLC)(DEA) (Consolidated). 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

8. This is a civil action concerning the infringement of United States Patent 

No. 8,729,094 (“the ’094 patent”).  This action arises under the patent laws of the United States, 

35 U.S.C. §§ 100 et seq., and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-02. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). 

10. This Court may declare the rights and other legal relations of the parties 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-02 because this case is an actual controversy within the Court’s 

jurisdiction. 

11. Venue is proper in this Court as to each Defendant pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1391(b), (c), and/or (d) and 1400(b). 

12. This Court has personal jurisdiction over each of the Defendants by virtue 

of the fact that, inter alia, each Defendant has committed, aided, abetted, contributed to, and/or 

participated in the commission of a tortious act of patent infringement that has led to foreseeable 

harm and injury to Plaintiffs.  This Court has personal jurisdiction over each of the Defendants 
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for the additional reasons set forth above and below, and for other reasons that will be presented 

to the Court if such jurisdiction is challenged. 

13. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant Teva USA. 

14. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant Teva Ltd. 

THE PATENT 

15. On May 20, 2014, the ’094 patent, titled, “Liquid Pharmaceutical 

Formulations of Palonosetron,” was duly and legally issued to Helsinn S.A. as an assignee, and 

as of May 1, 2017, co-ownership rights thereto have been granted to each of Helsinn Advanced, 

Helsinn Birex, and Helsinn U.S., as well as certain exclusive license rights to Eisai.  A copy of 

the ’094 patent is attached as Exhibit A. 

16. Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 355(b)(1), the ’094 patent has been listed in the 

United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) publication titled, “Approved Drug 

Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations” (also known as the “Orange Book”) as 

covering Helsinn’s Aloxi® brand palonosetron hydrochloride intravenous solutions. 

ACTS GIVING RISE TO THIS ACTION 
 

INFRINGEMENT OF THE ’094 PATENT BY TEVA 

17. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1-16 as if fully set forth herein. 

18. Defendant Teva submitted ANDA No. 090713 to the FDA under § 505(j) 

of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. § 355(j)).  ANDA No. 090713 sought 

the FDA approval necessary to engage in the commercial manufacture, use, offer for sale, sale, 

and/or importation of generic 0.25 mg / 5 mL and 0.075 mg / 1.5 mL palonosetron hydrochloride 

intravenous solutions prior to the expiration of the ’094 patent.  ANDA No. 090713 specifically 

sought FDA approval to market generic versions of Helsinn S.A.’s Aloxi® brand 0.25 mg / 5 mL 

(“Teva’s 0.25 mg ANDA Product”) and 0.075 mg / 1.5 mL palonosetron hydrochloride 
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intravenous solutions (collectively, “Teva’s ANDA Products”) prior to the expiration of the ’094 

patent. 

19. ANDA No. 090713 includes a certification under § 505(j)(2)(A)(vii)(IV) 

of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act that the claims of the ’094 patent are invalid.  On 

August 29, 2014, Defendants notified Plaintiffs of their certification and provided a detailed 

statement of the alleged basis for the certification, but did not allege noninfringement of any 

claim of the ’094 patent, separate and apart from their assertions that those claims are allegedly 

invalid.  Accordingly, Defendants have known of the ’094 patent since at least August 29, 2014. 

20. ANDA No. 090713 received final FDA approval on March 23, 2018 and 

on that same day, Teva began to engage in the commercial manufacture, use, offer for sale, sale, 

and/or importation of Teva’s 0.25 mg ANDA Product.  

21. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, Teva has infringed and is currently 

infringing at least claim 4 of the ’094 patent directly and/or indirectly through third parties, by 

making, using, offering for sale, selling, and/or importing into the United States without 

authority Teva’s 0.25 mg ANDA Product. 

22. Teva’s submission to the FDA of ANDA No. 090713 and the 

§ 505(j)(2)(A)(vii)(IV) certification constitutes infringement of the ’094 patent under 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(e)(2)(A). 

23. Teva’s 0.25 mg ANDA Product  

 claim 4 of the ’094 patent, which recites: 

Claim 4 (rewritten as an independent claim).  A method for 
reducing the likelihood of delayed cancer chemotherapy-induced 
nausea and vomiting, comprising intravenously administering to a 
human in need thereof a pharmaceutical single-use, unit-dose 
formulation comprising a 5 mL sterile aqueous isotonic solution 
buffered at a pH of about 5.0±0.5, said solution comprising: 
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about 0.05 mg/mL palonosetron hydrochloride based on the weight 
of its free base; 

about 41.5 mg/mL mannitol; 
about 0.5 mg/mL EDTA; and 
a citrate buffer, 
wherein said formulation is stable at 24 months when stored at 

room temperature, and  
wherein said intravenous administration to said human occurs 

before the start of the cancer chemotherapy. 
 

  

24. Upon information and belief, Teva has actively and knowingly aided and 

abetted the infringement of claim 4 by  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25. Upon information and belief, claim 4 of the ’094 patent has been and will 

continue to be directly infringed by healthcare professionals (e.g., physicians and nurses) 

prescribing and/or administering Teva’s 0.25 mg ANDA Product to cancer chemotherapy 

patients in the United States before the start of the cancer chemotherapy. 
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26. Upon information and belief, Teva has and continues to induce 

infringement of the ’094 patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by making, using, offering to sell, 

importing, and/or selling Teva’s 0.25 mg ANDA Product in the United States.  Upon information 

and belief, Teva has and continues to intentionally encourage acts of direct infringement with 

knowledge of the ’094 patent and knowledge that its acts are encouraging infringement.   

27. Upon information and belief, Teva has and continues to contributorily 

infringe the ’094 patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by making, using, offering to sell, selling, 

and/or importing Teva’s 0.25 mg ANDA Product in the United States.  Upon information and 

belief, Teva has and continues to have knowledge that Teva’s ANDA Products are indicated for 

a use that infringes the ’094 patent and that there is no substantial non-infringing use for Teva’s 

0.25 mg ANDA Product. 

28. Teva Ltd. and Teva USA are jointly and severally liable for any 

infringement of the ’094 patent.  This is because, upon information and belief, Teva Ltd. and 

Teva USA actively and knowingly caused to be submitted, assisted with, participated in, 

contributed to, and/or directed the submission of the ANDA No. 090713 and the 

§ 505(j)(2)(A)(vii)(IV) allegations to the FDA. 

29. Teva’s active and knowing participation in, contribution to, aiding, 

abetting, and/or inducement of the submission to the FDA of ANDA No. 090713 and the 

§ 505(j)(2)(A)(vii)(IV) allegations constitutes infringement of the ’094 patent under 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(e)(2)(A). 

30. Teva’s active and knowing inducement of the commercial manufacture, 

use, offer for sale, or sale of Teva’s 0.25 mg ANDA Product within the United States, 
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importation of Teva’s 0.25 mg ANDA Product into the United States, and/or contribution to such 

conduct constitute infringement of the ’094 patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271 (b) and/or (c). 

31. Upon information and belief, Teva knew or should have known of the 

’094 patent at least because prior to any of its sales of Teva’s 0.25 mg ANDA Product to third 

parties, Teva notified Plaintiffs of its certification under § 505(j)(2)(A)(vii)(IV) of the Federal 

Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act that the claims of the ’094 patent are invalid.  Accordingly, 

Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ’094 patent and its infringement of this patent at 

least as of August 29, 2014. 

32. Defendants are not licensed or otherwise authorized, directly and/or 

indirectly through third parties, to practice the claims of the ’094 patent.  

33. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ infringement of the ’094 

patent, Plaintiffs have been and will continue to be substantially and irreparably harmed by 

Teva’s infringing activities unless those activities are enjoined by this Court.  Plaintiffs do not 

have an adequate remedy at law. 

34. On June 25, 2018, the Supreme Court of the United States granted Helsinn 

S.A.’s petition for a writ of certiorari in related Appeal No. 17-1229.  Upon information and 

belief, based on Teva’s understanding of the overlapping subject matter of the patent on appeal 

and claim 4 of the ’094 patent (D.I. 48 at 2 (“Like the four patents invalidated by the Federal 

Circuit, the related ’094 patent is directed to the same palonosetron formulations, has the same 

inventors, and claims priority to the same provisional application.”); D.I. 391 (11-3962) at 1 

(“Like the patents-in-suit, the ’094 . . . patent[ is] directed to the same invention (formulations of 

palonosetron), ha[s] the same inventors, and claim[s] priority to the same provisional application 

No. 60/444,351.”); D.I. 395 (11-3962) at 1 (“Like the four patents invalidated by the Federal 
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Circuit, the related ’094 . . . patent[ is] directed to the same palonosetron formulations, ha[s] the 

same inventors, and claim[s] priority to the same provisional application.”)), Teva knew or 

should have known that its infringement of the ’094 patent has been and is willful at least since 

June 25, 2018, and pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284, Plaintiffs are entitled to treble damages.  

35. This case is an exceptional one, and Plaintiffs are entitled to an award of 

their reasonable attorneys’ fees under 35 U.S.C. § 285.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that: 

A. A Judgment be entered declaring that Defendants Teva USA and Teva 

Ltd. have infringed the ’094 patent by submitting the aforesaid ANDA; 

B. A Judgment be entered declaring that Defendants Teva USA and Teva 

Ltd. have infringed and continue to infringe the ’094 patent by making, using, offering to sell, 

selling, or importing Teva’s ANDA Products identified in this First Amended Complaint in the 

United States; 

C. An Order be issued that Defendants Teva USA and Teva Ltd., their 

officers, agents, servants and employees, and those persons in active concert or participation with 

any of them, are preliminarily and permanently enjoined from commercially manufacturing, 

using, offering for sale, selling, or importing Teva’s ANDA Products identified in this First 

Amended Complaint, and any other product that infringes or induces or contributes to the 

infringement of the ’094 patent, prior to the expiration of the ’094 patent, including any 

extensions to which Plaintiffs are or become entitled; and 

D. That this Court award damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 adequate to 

compensate Plaintiffs for Teva’s infringement, but in no event less than a reasonable royalty, 

together with pre-judgment interest; 
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E. That this Court award enhanced damages, up to and including trebling 

Plaintiffs’ damages, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284, for Defendants’ willful infringement of the 

’094 patent since the Supreme Court of the United States granted Helsinn S.A.’s petition for a 

writ of certiorari on June 25, 2018 in related Appeal No. 17-1229; 

F. That this Court order an accounting to determine the proper amount of the 

above damages; 

G. Attorneys’ fees in this action as an exceptional case pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 

§ 285; 

H. Costs and expenses in this action; and   

I. Plaintiffs be awarded such other and further relief as this Court deems just 

and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY 

  Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury on all issues that are triable by a jury. 
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Dated:  December 13, 2018 

Of Counsel: 
 
Joseph M. O’Malley, Jr. 
Eric W. Dittmann 
Young J. Park 
Isaac Ashkenazi 
Maria C. Nunez 
PAUL HASTINGS LLP 
200 Park Avenue  
New York, New York 10166 
(212) 318-6000 
josephomalley@paulhastings.com 
ericdittmann@paulhastings.com 
youngpark@paulhastings.com 
isaacashkenazi@paulhastings.com 
marianunez@paulhastings.com 
 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
Helsinn Healthcare S.A.,  
Helsinn Advanced Synthesis S.A.,  
Helsinn Birex Pharmaceuticals Ltd.,  
Helsinn Therapeutics (U.S.) Inc., and  
Eisai Inc. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

By:  s/ Charles M. Lizza              
Charles M. Lizza 
William C. Baton 
Sarah A. Sullivan 
SAUL EWING ARNSTEIN & LEHR LLP 
One Riverfront Plaza, Suite 1520 
Newark, New Jersey 07102-5426 
(973) 286-6700 
clizza@saul.com 
wbaton@saul.com 
ssullivan@saul.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
Helsinn Healthcare S.A.,  
Helsinn Advanced Synthesis S.A.,  
Helsinn Birex Pharmaceuticals Ltd., 
Helsinn Therapeutics (U.S.) Inc., and 
Eisai Inc. 
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